Guidelines for the Employment of Consultants by OECF Borrowers



The Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund

Head Office

Takebashi Godo Building, 4-1 Ohtemachi 1chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0004, Japan Telephone: Tokyo 3215-4395 Facsimile: (03)3215-1598 Telex: J28360, J28430, J28790

URL: http://www.oecf.go.jp

Dec.1997

THE OVERSEAS ECONOMIC COOPERATION FUND JAPAN

# Copyright © 1997 The Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund Takebashi Godo Building, 4-1 Ohtemachi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0004, Japan Revised December 1997 All rights reserved

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
	<b>AL</b> 1
Section 1.01	Introduction1
Section 1.02	Need for Employment of a Consultant1
Section 1.03	Responsibilities of the Borrower in Selection of a Consultant2
Section 1.04	The Fund's Files on Consultants2
Part II CONSI	ULTING SERVICES3
Section 2.01	Types of Assignment3
Section 2.02	$Responsibilities \ of \ Consultants5$
Section 2.03	Competence of Consultants6
Section 2.04	Impartiality of Consultants6
Section 2.05	Types of Consultants6
Section 2.06	Eligibility7
Section 2.07	Monitoring by the Fund7
Part III SELE	CTION PROCEDURES9
Section 3.01	General9
Section 3.02	Preparation of Terms of Reference
Section 3.03	Preparation of Short List of Consultants11
Section 3.04	Preparation of Letter of Invitation11
Section 3.05	Sending of the Letter of Invitation to Consultants12
Section 3.06	Evaluation of Proposals12
Section 3.07	Contract Negotiations14

Section 3.08	Informing Unsuccessful Consultants14
Part IV CONT	<b>TRACT</b> 15
Section 4.01	General15
Section 4.02	Scope of the Project and of the Consulting Services15
Section 4.03	Duration of Contract15
Section 4.04	Conditions relating to Validity of Contract15
Section 4.05	Responsibilities of the Parties15
Section 4.06	Contract Amount16
Section 4.07	Description of Consultants' Costs and Fees16
Section 4.08	Currency in which Costs and Fees are to be Expressed17
Section 4.09	Conditions and Methods of Payment17
Section 4.10	Ownership and Disposal of Equipment17
Section 4.11	Services to be provided by the Borrower18
Section 4.12	Privileges and Immunities of the Consultant18
Section 4.13	Serious Hindrances18
Section 4.14	Reports18
Section 4.15	Copyright18
Section 4.16	Modifications19
Section 4.17	Force Majeure19
Section 4.18	Termination19
Section 4.19	Settlement of Disputes19
Section 4.20	Applicable Laws20
Section 4.21	Language 20

Annex I T	ERMS OF REFERENCE	.21
1. Projec	ct Information	.21
2. Other	Relevant Information	.21
3. Gener	ral Terms of Reference	.21
4. Speci	fic Terms of Reference	.22
	ces and Facilities to be provided by the ower	.22
Annex II	SHORT LIST OF CONSULTANTS	•
Annex III	LETTER OF INVITATION (SAMPLE)	.24
Annex IV	SUMMARY EVALUATION SHEE (SAMPLE)	

### Part I

# **GENERAL**

# Section 1.01 Introduction

- (1) For the efficient and proper preparation and implementation of projects financed in whole or in part by THE OVERSEAS ECONOMIC COOPERATION FUND (hereinafter referred to as "the Fund"), most Borrowers of the Fund's loans require the assistance of consultants. (In these Guidelines, the term "the Borrower" also refers to the Executing Agency of the project and the term "consultant(s)" means "consulting firm(s)," individual consultants being excluded unless otherwise explicitly stated).
- (2) The purpose of these Guidelines is to indicate the Fund's views as to the proper selection and employment of consultants and the full utilization of consultants' expertise, and to ensure their impartiality, and, in addition, to set forth general rules to be followed by Borrowers in their use of consultants. How these Guidelines are to apply to a particular project financed by the Fund is to be stipulated in the Loan Agreement between the Fund and the Borrower.

# Section 1.02 Need for Employment of a Consultant

In most cases, the need to employ a consultant will be established jointly by the Borrower and the Fund and the Terms of Reference for their services will be drawn up, either prior to or in the course of the

negotiations relating to the Fund's Loan. At the same time, the two parties will agree on the approximate amount of funds required for such services.

# Section 1.03 Responsibilities of the Borrower in Selection of a Consultant

The selection of a consultant for a Fund-financed project is the responsibility of the Borrower.

# Section 1.04 The Fund's Files on Consultants

- (1) The Fund maintains files of information supplied by a number of consultants concerning their capability and experience.
- (2) Information in the Fund's files on consultants is available to the Borrowers who wish to review and assess the experience and qualifications of consultants they are considering for their projects. However, the information available in the Fund's reference files is limited, and it is frequently necessary for the Fund, or the Borrowers, to request additional detailed information from a particular consultant in order to form a judgment of its capability to carry out a specific assignment.
- (3) The fact that the Fund has been supplied with information about a consultant does not entitle that consultant to any contract to be financed by the Fund. Neither does it indicate that the Fund endorses the consultant's qualifications in general, nor that the Fund will accept the consultant's appointment for any specific project. The Fund has no list of "approved" consultants.

# Part II

# CONSULTING SERVICES

# Section 2.01 Types of Assignment

- (1) In general, the services of consultants can be grouped into the following four broad categories:
  - (a) Preinvestment studies, including:
    - i) determination of the relative priority to be accorded a project;
    - ii) formation and comparison of alternatives, and recommendations as to which is the best;
    - iii) general engineering layout and preliminary design of major structures;
    - iv) estimates of costs, benefits and construction period;
    - v) evaluation of economic and technical soundness, financial and commercial viability, suitability of organizational and managerial arrangements and social and environmental impact;
    - vi) recommendations and/or implementation related to environmental and social matters, including implementation/review of environmental impact assessments; and
    - vii) other recommendations concerning implementation of the project.
  - (b) Preparation services, including:
    - i) detailed investigations and review of

- preinvestment studies;
- ii) preparation of detailed designs,specifications and contract documents;
- iii) pre-qualification of contractors, suppliers or manufacturers (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Contractor(s)");
- iv) evaluation of bids and recommendations regarding award of contract; and
- v) recommendations and/or implementation related to environmental and social matters, including implementation/review of environmental impact assessments.
- (c) Implementation services, including:
  - i) supervision of construction work;
  - ii) technical and administrative services for the implementation and management of the project; and
  - iii) recommendations and/or implementation related to environmental and social matters, including environmental management, monitoring and audit.
- (d) Other services necessary for the project, including:
  - i) assistance in the start-up of facilities and their operation for an initial period;
  - ii) advisory services, in connection, for example, with development and sector planning and institution building;
  - iii) assistance in implementation of recommendations, post-evaluation and impact studies of the project; and
  - iv) other Borrower support services.
- (2) Taking into account the advantages of continuity of basic technical approach, it is advisable that functions (b), (c) and (d) be carried out by the same consultant. If a consultant has already satisfactorily carried out function (a), there are usually considerable advantages in appointing that consultant to carry out functions (b), (c) and (d).

# Section 2.02 Responsibilities of Consultants

- (1) Consultants are at all times to exercise all reasonable skill, care and diligence in the discharge of their duties. Consultants are responsible for the accuracy and completeness of their work.
- (2) In all professional matters a consultant is to act as a faithful adviser to the Borrower. The Borrower may, however, in the case of supervision of work and/or management aspects, delegate to a consultant more or less authority to act on its behalf, from full responsibility to make final decisions as an independent engineer, to that of advisor to the client with little authority to make decisions. The nature of and the limits to such delegation of authority to the consultant, as well as the scope and the nature of the responsibilities which the consultant is to assume, shall be clearly defined in the Terms of Reference and in the contract between the Borrower and the consultant.
- (3) In the case of a difference of opinion between the Borrower and the consultant on any important matters involving professional judgement that might affect the proper evaluation or execution of the project, the Borrower shall allow the consultant to submit promptly to the Borrower a written report and, simultaneously, to submit a copy to the Fund. The Borrower shall forward the report to the Fund with its comments in time to allow the Fund to study it and communicate with the Borrower before any irreversible steps are taken in the matter. In cases of urgency, a consultant shall have the right to request the Borrower and/or the Fund that the matter be discussed immediately between the Borrower and the Fund. This provision shall be stated in the Terms of Reference and in the contract between the Borrower and the consultant.

# Section 2.03 Competence of Consultants

In order to ensure the efficient and proper execution of the project as specifically required by the Loan Agreement, it is essential that consultants employed on Fund-financed projects clearly possess the necessary competence.

# Section 2.04 Impartiality of Consultants

In order to ensure that the goods and services used for Fund-financed projects are suitable and their cost reasonable, and in order to ensure also that designs and specifications in no way limit the Fund's requirements regarding competitive bidding, it is also essential that consultants employed on Fund-financed projects shall be demonstrably impartial.

# Section 2.05 Types of Consultants

- (1) In general, consulting firms fall into one or more of the following categories:
  - (a) Independent consulting firms;
- (b) Organizations of a public character(including public corporations and foundations) which also provide consulting services;
- (c) Firms which combine the functions of consultant with those of contractor, or which are associated with, affiliated to, or owned by contractors;
- (d) Firms which combine the functions of consultant with those of manufacturer, or which are associated with, affiliated to, or owned by manufacturers.
- (2) In line with Section 2.04, consulting firms in all categories of paragraph (1) of this Section employed by the Borrower to provide consulting services for the preparation related to procurement for or implementation of a project, and any of their associates/affiliates (inclusive of parent firms), shall be disqualified from working in any other capacity on the same project (including bidding relating to any goods and services for any part of the project), other than a continuation of the firm's earlier consulting

services as further described in paragraph (2) of Section 3.01. Only in special cases and only with clear justification, and after taking into account all aspects and circumstances, may the Fund and the Borrower agree to permit a firm and/or its associates/affiliates (inclusive of parent firms) to be invited to bid on a Fund-financed project as a Contractor, when it is also employed on the same project as a consultant.

(3) The provisions of paragraph (2) of this Section also apply to Contractors who lend, or temporarily second, their personnel to firms or organizations which are engaged in consulting services for the preparation related to procurement for or implementation of the project, if the personnel would be involved in any capacity on the same project.

# Section 2.06 Eligibility

A consulting firm employed by the Borrower for a Fund-financed project shall satisfy all of the following conditions:

- (a) A majority of the subscribed shares shall be held by nationals of the eligible source countries;
- (b) A majority of the full-time directors shall be nationals of the eligible source countries;
- (c) The firm shall be incorporated and registered in an eligible source country.

# Section 2.07 Monitoring by the Fund

The Borrower is responsible for supervising the consultant's performance and ensuring that the consultant carries out the assignment in accordance with the contract. Without assuming the responsibilities of the Borrower or the consultant, the Fund may monitor the work as necessary in order to satisfy itself that it is being carried out in accordance with appropriate standards and is based on acceptable data. As appropriate, the Fund may take part in discussions between the Borrower and the consultant. However, the Fund shall not be liable in any way for the implementation of the Project by reason of such

monitoring or participation in discussions. Neither the Borrower nor the consultant shall be released from any responsibility for the Project by reason of the Fund's monitoring or participation in discussion. This provision shall be clearly stated in the agreement between the Borrower and the consultant.

### Part III

# SELECTION PROCEDURES

# Section 3.01 General

- (1) The Fund normally requires Borrowers to adopt the following procedures in the selection and employment of Consultants.
- (a) Preparation of the Terms of Reference and cost estimates;
  - (b) Preparation of a Short List of Consultants;
  - (c) Invitation to submit proposals;
  - (d) Evaluation of proposals; and
  - (e) Negotiation of a contract.

Consultants' proposals for services shall be evaluated solely on the basis of the qualifications of the firms and their staff members for the work, and of the quality of their proposals as regards approach and methodology. Discussions concerning costs and other financial matters, therefore, shall be conducted only with a consultant who has been selected to be invited to enter on contract negotiations.

- (2) The Fund may, however, accept the Borrower's employment of a specific consultant in cases of the following:
- (a) where the consultant has already satisfactorily carried out services for the project concerned, such as preparation of a preinvestment study;
- (b) where the consultant has satisfactorily carried out services on a project closely related and/or similar

À,

to the project concerned;

- (c) where the consultant is considered to be the only firm qualified to provide the services required;
- (d) where the consultant is considered to be the best for the services required for other adequate reasons.
- (3) Should two or more consultants jointly submit a proposal for consulting services, the same procedures as outlined in this Part are to be followed.
- (4) Where the Borrower wishes to employ an individual consultant, the Borrower shall consult with the Fund on the selection procedures to be adopted.
- (5) All documents relating to the selection and employment of consultants should be in English. If another language is used in those documents, a full English text shall be incorporated in them and it shall be specified which is governing.

# Section 3.02 Preparation of Terms of Reference

- (1) The first step in the engagement of a consultant is for the Fund and the Borrower to agree on the need to use a consultant, on the Terms of Reference for its services, on the type of consultant to be employed and on the approximate amount of funds required for the consulting services.
- (2) The Terms of Reference shall describe the scope of the consulting services in as much detail as possible, especially as regards alternative solutions the consultant is expected to explore in the course of its work and as to how much authority will be delegated to it to act on the Borrower's behalf. In addition, the Terms of Reference shall provide information on the background of the project, on the availability of relevant basic data\*, on national and/or other standards and the specifications to be used in the design of the project, and on the conditions under which the work shall be performed. (See Annex I)

(3) In the case of projects classified as Category A or Category B in accordance with OECF Environmental Guidelines\*, consulting services related to environmental consideration, such as those described in Section 2.01, shall be included in the scope. (See Annex I)

# Section 3.03 Preparation of Short List of Consultants

- (1) Once the Fund and the Borrower have agreed on the Terms of Reference for the consulting services required, as described in paragraph (2) of Section 3.02, the Borrower shall prepare a Short List of Consultants to be invited to submit proposals, taking into account the factors mentioned in Parts I and II. (See Annex II)
- (2) Such a Short List shall normally consist of not less than three and not more than five consultants. There is usually little advantage in inviting more than five consultants to submit proposals, because with a larger number some are likely to be less interested and the quality of proposals is likely to suffer.
- (3) Should the Borrower find it difficult to compile a satisfactory Short List of qualified consultants from the information available to it from its own past experience and other sources, the Fund will, at the request of the Borrower, make available information on consultants, from which the Borrower may draw up its own Short List.

# Section 3.04 Preparation of Letter of Invitation

(1) The Letter of Invitation (See Annex III) shall request consultants to cover at least the points specifically mentioned in the Terms of Reference and shall clearly state that the selection of the first consultant to be invited to negotiate a contract will be made solely on the basis of the ranking of the

<sup>\*</sup> Coverage, scale and accuracy of the available maps and aerial photographs, data on climate, hydrology and subsoil, facilities available (office space, housing, transportation, counterparts), etc.

<sup>\*</sup> See Section I. 2 of OECF Environmental Guidelines ("Classification of projects") and Attachment("Criteria for Classification of Projects").

proposals evaluated with respect to the qualifications of the firms and their staff members for the work and to the quality of their proposals regarding approach and methodology and, that consultants shall, therefore, not include in their proposals any information on the estimated cost or financial terms of their services.

The Letter of Invitation shall also stipulate the details of the selection procedure to be followed, including the technical evaluation categories and an indication of the weight to be given to each.

- (2) Since it is advisable that consultants invited to submit proposals be able to visit the country and the project site before submitting their proposals, the invitation shall, as a rule, allow 45-60 days from the date of the actual mailing of the Letter of Invitation to the deadline for submission of proposals.
- (3) The Letter of Invitation shall also request consultants to notify the Borrower by cable within a specified time whether or not they intend to submit proposals.

# Section 3.05 Sending of the Letter of Invitation to Consultants

After preparing the Short List, the Letter of Invitation and the Terms of Reference in accordance with the provisions of the foregoing Sections, the Borrower shall invite all the consultants on the Short List to submit proposals by mailing to them the Letter of Invitation (the Terms of Reference to be attached thereto).

# Section 3.06 Evaluation of Proposals

- (1) Proposals received by the Borrower in response to the invitation shall be evaluated in accordance with the criteria stipulated in the Letter of Invitation. Such criteria shall normally include:
- (a)The consultant's general experience and record in the field covered by the Terms of Reference;
- (b)The adequacy of the proposed approach, methodology and work plan; and

- (c) The experience and records of the staff members to be assigned to the work.
- (2) The relative importance of the three abovementioned factors will vary with the type of consulting services to be performed, but in the overall rating of the proposals most weight shall normally be given either to the qualifications of the staff members to be assigned to the project or to approach and methodology, rather than to the fame or reputation of a firm.
- (3) To assess the qualifications of the staff members to be assigned to the project, their curricula vitae shall be evaluated on the basis of the following three criteria:
- (a) General qualifications (education, length of experience, types of position held, length of service with the firm, etc.);
- (b) Suitability for the project (experience of performing the duties which will be assigned to them in the project); and
- (c) Familiarity with the language and the conditions of the country in which the work is to be performed or experience in similar environments.
- (4) In its evaluation of the proposals, the Borrower shall use numerical ratings and prepare an evaluation report including a summary evaluation sheet (a sample is shown in Annex IV) as soon as possible. The evaluation report shall normally give detailed information on the following items, supplementing the summary evaluation sheet:
- (a) Selection Committee or other similar organization, if any, responsible for the evaluation, and the domestic laws, ordinances or orders which govern the establishment and/or functioning of the Committee or other similar organization;
- (b) Selection criteria and relative weight distribution, with reasons for adopting each criterion and the basis for deciding the weight distribution;
- (c) Rating: reason for arriving at the rating given for each item for each firm.

# Section 3.07 Contract Negotiations

- (1) After evaluation of the proposals has been completed, the Borrower shall invite the highest-ranked consultant to enter on negotiations on the conditions (including costs and financial terms) of a contract between them.
- (2) If the two parties are unable to reach agreement on a contract within a reasonable time, the Borrower shall terminate the negotiations with the first consultant and invite the consultant who ranked second in the evaluation to enter on negotiations. The Borrower shall consult with the Fund prior to taking this step. This procedure shall be followed until the Borrower reaches agreement with a consultant.
- (3) While there should be some flexibility in work plans, staff assignment and major work inputs which have been previously agreed on as appropriate for the assignment shall not be materially modified to meet a budget.

# Section 3.08 Informing Unsuccessful Consultants

Promptly after completion of negotiations with the selected consultant, the Borrower shall notify the other consultants on the Short List that they have been unsuccessful.

# Part IV

### CONTRACT

### Section 4.01 General

The contract between the Borrower and the consultant shall be prepared in such detail as to adequately protect the interests of both parties to the contract. As a rule, the contract shall, inter alia, include the clauses outlined below.

# Section 4.02 Scope of the Project and of the Consulting Services

The contract shall describe in detail the scope and duration of the project and of the services to be rendered by the consultant.

# Section 4.03 Duration of Contract

The contract shall specify the dates for the beginning and completion of the consultant's services.

# Section 4.04 Conditions relating to Validity of Contract

The contract shall include a clause specifying on what conditions it will be valid.

# Section 4.05 Responsibilities of the Parties

(1) The contract shall clearly describe the responsibilities of the Borrower and of the consultant and the relationship between them.

(2) Where the consultant is a joint venture or other form of association of firms, the contract shall state clearly whether they will both/all be "jointly and severally" responsible for performance under the contract, or whether one firm will be "solely" responsible, and shall state which firm will be acting on behalf of the joint venture (or other type of association of firms) in all its relations and communications with the Borrower.

# Section 4.06 Contract Amount

The contract shall state clearly the total amount, or "ceiling", of fees to be paid to the consultant.

# Section 4.07 Description of Consultants' Costs and Fees

- (1) The personnel costs and fees necessary for fulfillment of the contract shall normally be expressed in terms of fixed "man-month rates" for each expert staff member to be provided by the consultant. The "man-month rate" will include the basic salary of the staff member, the firm's overheads (including financial, social security and other benefits payable to, or for, the staff member, such as vacation pay, sick leave pay, insurance, etc.) and the firm's fee.
- (2) For extended periods of field service in the country concerned, the contract may also provide for overseas allowances in addition to the "man-month rate" mentioned in paragraph (1) of this Section.
- (3) The contract shall stipulate clearly the number of working or calendar days of vacation and sick leave to which each staff member will be entitled.
- (4) In addition to the personnel costs described under paragraph (1) of this Section, the contract shall normally provide for reimbursement, at actual cost or agreed "unit cost," for travel, equipment and other items necessary for the consulting services covered by the contract.
- (5) The contract shall normally include an amount set aside for contingencies, such as work not foreseen and rising costs, which the consultant may not use,

however, without the written approval of the Borrower.

# Section 4.08 Currency in which Costs and Fees are to be Expressed

The Fund's loan is denominated in Japanese Yen and the costs and fees should normally be stated in Japanese Yen. Whenever necessary, however, other international trading currencies may also be permitted. In addition, any portion which the consultant expects to spend in the Borrower's country may be stated in the currency of the country of the Borrower.

# Section 4.09 Conditions and Methods of Payment

- (1) The contract shall specify the conditions and methods of payment, the currency or currencies in which payment is to be made, and the rate of exchange for any currency conversion.
- (2) Payment to the consultant shall be scheduled in such a manner as roughly to keep pace with its expenditures (i.e. the consultant shall not receive payments substantially in advance of its actual expenses for its services nor shall it have to wait long for payment for services already rendered). In line with this concept, the contract may, when appropriate, provide for the following:
- (a) An advance payment to the consultant at the time the contract becomes effective that will approximately cover its initial reimbursable expenses;
- (b) Withholding of the final payment until all services covered by the contract have been completed or certain performance guarantees have been given.

In case (b) above, however, the final payment shall be made within the disbursement period stipulated in the Loan Agreement.

# Section 4.10 Ownership and Disposal of Equipment

The contract shall stipulate the ownership of equipment to be procured, and the manner of disposal of any equipment remaining after the services have been completed.

# Section 4.11 Services to be provided by the Borrower

The contract shall clearly specify the services and facilities to be provided by the Borrower, such as counterpart staff, maps, aerial photographs, data and statistics, office space, housing, vehicles and equipment.

# Section 4.12 Privileges and Immunities of the Consultant

The contract shall state clearly what privileges and immunities the consultant will be accorded, especially as regards visas and work permits, corporate and personal income taxes and other dues, customs duties, etc.

# Section 4.13 Serious Hindrances

The contract shall require the consultant to report\* to the Borrower and the Fund promptly the occurrence of any event or condition which might delay or prevent completion of any significant part of the project in accordance with the agreed schedules and to indicate what steps shall be taken to meet the situation.

# Section 4.14 Reports

The contract shall specify the scope, number, type and frequency of the reports to be submitted by the consultant to the Borrower.

# Section 4.15 Copyright

The contract shall specify whether the copyright of documents prepared by the consultant under the contract rests with the consultant or the Borrower.

### Section 4.16 Modifications

The contract shall provide that it may only be modified by agreement in writing between the two parties.

# Section 4.17 Force Majeure

The contract shall clearly establish:

- (1) The force majeure conditions which would release the consultant, temporarily or permanently, from all or part of its obligations under the contract;
- (2) The procedures to be followed by the consultant regarding determination and notification of any such conditions; and
- (3) The Borrower's and the consultant's rights and obligations (e.g., as to payments following termination, including, if appropriate, reimbursement of movement expenses) in force majeure situations.

# Section 4.18 Termination

The contract shall include a clause specifying in detail on what conditions either party may terminate the contract and a clause stipulating procedures to be followed by the party wishing to terminate the contract. The contract shall state clearly the rights and obligations of both parties in the event of termination of the contract.

# Section 4.19 Settlement of Disputes

- (1) The contract shall establish the procedures to be followed in case of a dispute arising between the Borrower and the consultant in connection with the contract.
- (2) For the settlement of such disputes, the Fund recommends recourse to impartial institutions specializing in such matters, such as the International Chamber of Commerce.
- (3) Whenever the laws of the Borrower's country prohibit such recourse to institutions specializing in arbitration, the contract shall include alternative provisions for the settlement of disputes between the Borrower and the consultant.

<sup>\*</sup> Where the Borrower receives such a report from the consultant, the Borrower shall immediately forward a copy of it to the Fund, together with its comments on the report and an outline of the steps the report proposes shall be taken.

# Section 4.20 Applicable Laws

The contract shall stipulate which laws shall govern its interpretation and performance.

# Section 4.21 Language

The contract should be prepared in English. If another language is used in the contract, a full English text shall be incorporated in the contract and it shall be stipulated which is governing.

# Annex I

# TERMS OF REFERENCE

(The Terms of Reference shall include the items mentioned below. The relevance of an item will depend on the nature of the project.)

- 1. Project Information
  - Background information -- history of the project's evolution and the reason(s) why it is necessary to implement the project.
  - (2) Location of the project and information on the surrounding area.
  - (3) Stage reached in the project's preparation and summary of the findings of studies to date.
  - (4) Implementing organization.
  - (5) Details of the major problem areas.
- 2. Other Relevant Information
- (1) Technical information -- availability of relevant basic data, technical standards or specifications to be used, etc.
- (2) Relevant laws and regulations.
- (3) Related projects
- 3. General Terms of Reference
- (1) Objectives
- (2) Scope of consulting services -- Categories of consulting services to be provided, nature of consulting work (the latter in detail, including

equipment and materials to be supplied by the consultant). In the case of projects classified as Category A or Category B in accordance with *OECF Environmental Guidelines\**, consulting services related to environmental consideration, such as those described in Section 2.01, shall be included in the scope.

- (3) Nature of and limit to the responsibilities which the consultant is to assume.
- (4) Estimated time required to complete a) the project, b) the consulting work; number and qualifications of experts; man-months as estimated by the Borrower for budget purposes.
- (5) Scope, number, type and frequency of the reports to be presented by the consultant.
- (6) Other necessary provisions regarding the obligations between the Borrower and the consultant which are stipulated in *Guidelines for* the Employment of Consultants by OECF Borrowers(e.g. Section 2.02(3), Section 2.07).
- 4. Specific Terms of Reference
  - (1) Methodological details relating to the consulting services mentioned above.
  - (2) Provision for the review of previous studies and for possible additional studies.
- 5. Services and Facilities to be provided by the Borrower

SHORT LIST OF CONSULTANTS Annex	Name of Major Projects Chairman undertaken Clients (or equivalent)
SHORTLE	Address
	Country of Registration
	Names

23

<sup>\*</sup> See Section I. 2 of OECF Environmental Guidelines ("Classification of projects") and Attachment ("Criteria for Classification of Projects").

## Annex III

# LETTER OF INVITATION (SAMPLE)

	Date:
	Ref No:
Го:	(Name and Address of Consultant)
	Project
Gentlei	men:

1. (name of Borrower/Executing Agency) (hereinafter referred to as "the Government"\*) is planning to (brief description of project), in (name of project area).

The Government intends to employ a consultant to provide services for (categories of consulting services) for the project.

2. (A substantial part of) the cost of the consulting services will be financed out of the proceeds of a loan

extended for the project by THE OVERSEAS ECONOMIC COOPERATION FUND (hereinafter referred to as "the Fund"), and the consultant to be employed will be selected in accordance with the Guidelines for the Employment of Consultants by OECF Borrowers.

- 3. You are one of (number of consultants being invited) consultants being invited to present a proposal for consulting services. For detailed information concerning the services, please refer to the Terms of Reference attached hereto.
- 4. You may undertake the work in association with other consultants (not necessarily selected from among the other consultants invited to present proposals). In such a case, the proposal shall state clearly whether the partners in the association will be "jointly and severally" responsible for performance under the consulting services contract, or whether one of the partners will be "solely" responsible, and it shall state which partner will be acting on behalf of the association in all its relations and communications with the Government.
- 5. Your proposal shall cover in detail the following:
- (1) The background and experience of your firm (and, if any, associated firms), including a list of past and present work of a nature similar to this project in the last five years.
- (2) The general approach and methodology which you propose for carrying out the services covered in the Terms of Reference, including such detailed information as you deem relevant, together with:
  - (a) A detailed overall work program and a bar chart indicating the duration and the timing of the assignment of each expert or other staff member assigned to the project;
  - (b) Your estimate of the total number of manmonths required; and

<sup>\*</sup> In most cases equivalent to the Borrower referred to in these Guidelines. When an organization other than a Government is the Borrower,the phraseology will differ accordingly.

- (c) A clear description of the responsibilities of each expert staff member within the overall work program.
- (3) The name, background and professional experience of each expert staff member to be assigned to the project, with particular reference to his experience of work of a nature similar to that of the proposed assignment. You are requested to cover at least the points specifically mentioned in the Terms of Reference and in this letter.
- 6. Selection of the first consultant to be invited to negotiate a contract will be made solely on the basis of the ranking of the proposals evaluated with respect to the qualifications of the consulting firms and the expert staff to be assigned to the work and to the quality of the proposals regarding approach and methodology. You shall, therefore, not include in your proposal any information on the estimated costs or financial terms of your services. Details of the selection procedure to be followed, including the technical evaluation categories and an indication of the weight to be given to each are stated in the attached sheet.
- 7. You shall note that if you combine the functions of consultant with those of a contractor and/or a manufacturer, you must include in your proposal all relevant information regarding such relationship, along with an undertaking to the effect that you agree to limit your role to that of consultant and to disqualify yourself, your associates/affiliates and/or parent firm from work in any other capacity on this project other than that of consultant. You are also requested to state in your proposal that you will ensure that specifications and designs recommended by you will be impartial and in no way limit competitive bidding.

If, in connection with the performance of the consulting services, you intend to borrow, or hire temporarily, personnel from contractors and/or

manufacturers, you must include in your proposal all relevant information about such personnel. In such a case, you will be acceptable only if those contractors and/or the manufacturers disqualify themselves from work on this project other than that of consultant.

8. We shall be grateful if you cable not later than () intend to present a proposal. Yaddressed to ().	whether or not you
9. You are requested to send ( proposal to ().	·=
10. After all proposals have be consultant who has submitted proposal** will be invited to other terms of a contract.	the first-ranked
11. Should you desire addition do our best to provide it. Requinformation, or any delay in c requests, shall not, however, i obligation of firms invited to shy the deadline indicated above	nests for additional omplying with such nany way affect the send complete proposals
	Yours faithfully,
	(Name of Government)
Attached: Terms of Reference	(Authorized Signature)

<sup>\*\*</sup> The words "with the Fund's consent/concurrence "shall be inserted where appropriate.

# SUMMARY EVALUATION SHEET (SAMPLE)

(w)×(r) 15.3 8.1	7.2	24.0	12.8	11.2
(7)	0.8		0.8	0.7
(r) (w)×(r) (r) (w)×(r) 13.5 (r) (w)×(r) 13.2 0.9 8.1	6.3	19.2	9.6	9.6
(r)	0.7		9.0	9.0
(r) (w)×(r) 9.9	4.5	19.2	9.6	9.6
(r) (r)	0.5		9.0	9.0
(r) (w)×(r) 11.7	4,5	27.2	14.4	12.8
(r) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c	0.5		6.0	8.0
Weighted (w)×(r) 7.2 4.5	2.7	16.0	8.0	8.0
Ratings (r)	0.3		0.5	0.5
Weight (w) 18	6	32	16	16
Name of Firm <sup>4)</sup> n criteria <sup>2)</sup> s of the Guidelines) ternational projects of complexity and technical	comparable conditions		.Approach and Methodology	2. Work Plan (including staffing schedule)
Selectio (see Section 3.06 Experience of Firm 1. Experience of in comparable size speciality 2. Experience in de	сошь	Proposal	1.Appro	2.Work

50		28.6		40.0		30.8		34.2		39.4
15	0.6	9.0	6.0	13.5	0.7	10.5	9.0	9.0	6.0	13.5
28		16.8		21.6		16.8		19.6		19.6
(4)	9.0	2.4	8.0	(3.2)	9.0	(2.4)	8.0	(3.2)	8.0	(3.2)
(4)	0.5	2.0	0.7	(2.8)	9.0	(2.4)	9.0	(2.4)	0.7	(2.8)
(4)	9.0	3.2	6.0	(3.6)	0.8	(3.2)	0.7	(2.8)	0.7	(2.8)
(4)	0.7	2.8	9.0	(2.4)	0.5	(2.0)	0.7	(2.8)	6.0	(3.6)
(4)	9.0	2.4	6.0	(3.6)	9.0	(2.4)	8.0	(3.2)	0.7	(2.8)
(4)	0.5	2.0	8.0	(3.2)	0.5	(2.0)	0.7	(2.8)	9.0	(2,4)
(4)	0.5	2.0	0.7	(2.8)	9.0	(2.4)	9.0	(2.4)	0.5	(2.0)
7	0.4	2.8	0.7	4.9	0.5	3.5	8.0	5.6	6.0	6.3
001		51.8		78.9		59.9		6.99		78.7
		5		1		4		3		2

Ξ

29

Notes:

The firm with the greatest number of points shall, other factors being equal, be ranked first.
 Additional items may be used and criteria included above may be deleted, as appropriate.
 The weight distribution will depend upon the type and nature of the project.
 Joint ventures shall be evaluated in the same manner, since they shall function as a unit.
 The rating categories shall be: Excellent 0.9 - 1.0, Good 0.8 - 0.89, Average 0.6 - 0.79, Below average 0.4 - 0.59, Poor 0.0 - 0.39.

# **Overseas Representative Offices**

### BANGKOK OFFICE

17th Floor, Thai Farmers Bank Building,400/22, Phaholyothin Avenue, Bangkok, 10400,

THAILAND

Telephone: Bangkok 270-1001~3,

271-2035, 2828, 4682

Telex: Call Number 8682968

Answer Back Code OECFBKKTH

Facsimile: +66-2-271-3535

# JAKARTA OFFICE

Summitmas II 8th Floor, J1. Jenderal

Sudirman, Kav. 61-62, Jakarta Selatan, Jakarta,

INDONESIA

Telephone: Jakarta 5200226, 5200948,

5220693, 5251350

Facsimile: +62-21-5200975

### MANILA OFFICE

25th Floor, Pacific Star Building, Makati Ave. cor. Sen. Gil J. Puyat Ave. 1200 Makati, Metro Manila,

PHILIPPINES

Telephone: Manila 810-4826~4829,811-5956, 5957

Facsimile: +63-2-815-1799

# NEW DELHI OFFICE

D.L.F. Centre, 2nd floor, Sansad Marg,

New Delhi, 110001,

Telephone: New Delhi 3714362, 3714363, 3717090

Facsimile: +91-11-371-5066

### BELIING OFFICE

3102, China World Trade Center, No.1 Jian Guo, Men Wai Avenue, Beijing, The People's Republic

Telephone: Beijing 6505-1196, 1197

Facsimile: +86-10-6505-1198

# KUALA LUMPUR OFFICE

22nd floor, UBN Tower, Letter Box No. 59 Jalan P. Ramlee 50250, Kuala Lumpur,

MALAYSIA

Telephone: Kuala Lumpur 2323255,

2322201, 2322202

+60-3-2322115 Facsimile:

# DHAKA OFFICE

Sonargaon Hotel Room No.351-355 107, Kazi Nazrul Islam Avenue, Dhaka, BANGLADESH

Telephone: Dhaka 811641~5, 811005

812011(HOTEL)(Ex.4351~4355)

814081, 816700(Direct)

Telex: Call Number 632235 SNHT BJ (HOTEL)

Facsimile: +880-2-813336 (Direct)

# ISLAMABAD OFFICE

House No.62 Ataturk Avenue, G-6/3,

Islamabad, PAKISTAN

Telephone: Islamabad 823116, 812478

Telex: Call Number 9254528

Answer Back Code OECFPK

Facsimile: +92-51-822546

# COLOMBO OFFICE

Level 13, Development Holdings No.42, Navam Mawatha, Colombo 2,

SRI LANKA

Telephone: Colombo 300470, 300471, 300472

Facsimile: +94-1-300473

# PARIS OFFICE

8, Rue Sainte-Anne, 75001, Paris, FRANCE

Telephone: Paris 4703-6190

Facsimile: +33-1-4703-3236

### LONDON OFFICE

4th Floor, 9-15, Sackville Street, London,

WIX IDE,U.K.

Telephone: London 0171-734-3565

Facsimile: +44-171-734-3569

# NAIROBI OFFICE

6th floor, International House, Mama Ngina Street,

Nairobi, KENIYA

P.O. Box Number: P.O.Box 49526, Nairobi, KENIA

Telephone: Nairobi 221420, 221637 Telex: Call Number 98722094

Answer Back Code OECFNBI

Facsimile: +254-2-221569

# CAIRO OFFICE

Nile Hilton Hotel Commercial Center,

No.30 Tahrir Square, Cairo, EGYPT

Telephone: Cairo 5748708, 5748709

Facsimile: +20-2-5741594

# WASHINGTON OFFICE

2100 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. Suite 535,

Washington, D.C., 20037 U.S.A.

Telephone: Washington 463-7492 Facsimile: +1-202-463-7496

# SOUTH AMERICA REGIONAL OFFICE

Edifício Torre Rio Sul.

Rua Lauro Müller, 116/3505

Botafogo, Rio de Janeiro- RJ- CEP 22290-160,

BRAZIL

Telephone: Rio de Janeiro 295-5942, 8596,9691

Facsimile: +55-21-295-7840

# HANOI OFFICE

5th Floor, 41B Ly Thai To Street, Hanoi, VIET NAM

Telephone: Hanoi 8248934~6

Facsimile: +84-4-8248937

(as of December 1997)